RECEIVED

03-17-2017

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2016AP1865

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MARIO DOUGLAS,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction, and an Order Denying a Postconviction Motion, Entered in Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable David Borowski, Presiding.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

KAITLIN A. LAMB Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1085026

Office of the State Public Defender 735 N. Water Street - Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116 (414) 227-4805/lambk@opd.wi.gov Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

At issue in this case is whether a defendant is entitled to *any* relief when the circuit court, the prosecutor, trial counsel, and the defendant *all* incorrectly believed that the defendant could be convicted of two counts if he went to trial when in fact he could only be convicted of a single count.

- 1. Is Mr. Douglas entitled to an evidentiary hearing and plea withdrawal because the circuit court and trial counsel incorrectly advised him that he could be convicted of two counts if he went to trial?
- 2. Is Mr. Douglas entitled to an evidentiary hearing and plea withdrawal because his attorney failed to ascertain and advise him that he could not be convicted of two counts?
- 3. Did the circuit court's inaccurate belief that Mr. Douglas could be convicted of two counts if he went to trial entitle him to a new sentencing hearing?
- 4. Does the fact that Mr. Douglas can only be convicted of a single count if he went to trial entitle him to sentence modification?
- 5. Is a blanket no contact order with any children under the age of sixteen overly broad and violate Mr. Douglas's constitutional right to parent his children?

The postconviction court denied all of Mr. Douglas's requests for relief without a hearing.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

This Court should not grant oral argument or publication as this is a fact-specific case requiring application of established legal principles.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Charges

The criminal complaint charged Mario Douglas with two counts:

- (1) second degree sexual assault of O.L.G., a child under 16 years of age, a class C felony with a maximum term of imprisonment of 40 years, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 948.02(2); and
- (2) first degree sexual assault of O.L.G., a child under 16 years of age, use of threat of force/violence, a class B felony with a maximum term of imprisonment of 60 years and a mandatory minimum of 25 years of initial confinement, contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 948.02(1)(c) & 939.616(1r).

(1:1).

According to the complaint, on July 10, 2013, O.L.G. went to Mr. Douglas's house. (1:2). Mr. Douglas told O.L.G. that "his girlfriend was in the basement and she wanted to talk to [O.L.G.]." (*Id.*). O.L.G. went into the basement. (*Id.*). Once in the basement, Mr. Douglas told O.L.G. that his girlfriend was not there. (*Id.*). Mr. Douglas then:

¹ O.L.G. referred to Mr. Douglas as "Rio." (1:2).

Pushed her onto a bed, got between her legs, and was trying to unbutton her shorts. She began to struggle . . . and she was trying to pull her shorts up. [He] slapped her in the face three times. She then hit him, and [he] then put his hand on her throat and began to squeeze. She had difficulty breathing, but she did not black out. [He] also punched her in the mouth. [He] was then able to pull off her shorts and underwear, and at that point she was tired of fighting so she just gave in. [He] then inserted his penis into her vagina.

(*Id*.).

Motion to Dismiss One of the Counts

At the initial appearance, trial counsel, Anne Jaspers,² moved to dismiss count two, or alternatively, count one, because there were insufficient facts to support both counts. (50:7). In response, the prosecutor argued that the charges were proper because "they cite different acts. One is a simple sexual assault of a child. The other is a specific act of violence—intercourse with use of threat of violence." (50:8).³

The court commissioner denied the motion to dismiss stating:

Okay. I believe that in reading the complaint, both counts are supported. I certainly understand counsel may want to, you know, reserve her right to file a motion or have counsel representing Mr. Douglas reserve the right

² Anne Jaspers appeared on behalf of Mr. Douglas, but stated that Anne Devitt represented him. (50:2, 6).

³ Assistant District Attorney William Pipp appeared on behalf of the State at the initial appearance. (50:2). However, Assistant District Attorney Paul Tiffin issued the complaint and handled the plea and sentencing in this case. (1; 55; 56).

to say file a motion before judge in it matter. But $I-as\ I$ review the complaint, I see support for both charges. I view them as distinct and separate charges. The first not involving the threat of force and the second involving that. So at this point I'm-I'm agreeing with the state's argument that both are supported to the level of probable cause. I see no need to dismiss either one at this stage, but I will allow counsel to maybe revisit that issue if he wishes before the judge in the future but I'm letting the complaint go forward . . .

(50:7-9).

Incorrect Advice Prior to the Scheduled Jury Trial

After the preliminary hearing,⁴ Mr. Douglas retained Kristian Lindo. (*See* 7; 52).

At the final pretrial, the circuit court asked the state to put the offer on the record. (54:4; App. 116). The state explained that if Mr. Douglas entered a plea to count one, the state would recommend an initial term of confinement of six to eight years or recommend incarceration leaving the length to the court's discretion. (*Id.*). The state also would move to dismiss the second count. (*Id.*). The circuit court then, in a lengthy exchange, incorrectly stated that if Mr. Douglas decided to go to trial, "he's facing a 100 years in prison," and could be convicted on both counts:

THE COURT: . . . You advised your client that <u>he's</u> <u>facing a 100 years in prison</u>?

TRIAL COUNSEL: Yes, Your Honor. We have talked about that.

⁴ At the preliminary hearing, different counsel, John Matthew Krejci, represented Mr. Douglas. (51:2).

THE COURT: You advised him that he not only is facing, but will serve at least 25 years of initial confinement on Count 2, and if he's convicted on both, the State may very well ask me to stack sentences for those two, and he may be facing 30, 40 years of initial confinement? You explained that to your client?

TRIAL COUNSEL: I did, Your Honor. I will note that we did enter negotiations with the state, and the state's most recent offer was lower than ADA Tiffin – he did extend a lower offer. I explained it to Mr. Douglas, and I let him know the exposure he was facing in taking a plea versus taking this to trial. I think really the issue is just the amount of in-custody time. I did explain—

THE COURT: Well, counsel, hang on. First of all, I'm telling you, or more specifically your client what to do. If he wants a trial, wonderful. We'll bring in a jury, you both can try it, I'll preside over it. But if your client is concerned about six to eight years of initial confinement, he needs to understand if he loses, the earliest date, the earliest date he possibly walks out of prison is the year 2039.

And if he's convicted on both counts, the state, if they ask, or maybe, <u>I</u>, <u>myself</u>, <u>could easily be persuaded to stack time on top of that as there's two offenses, two separate crimes.</u>

So if he's worried about six to eight years of initial confinement, he should do the math and figure out that 25 or 30 years of initial confinement is a lot more than six.

Has he done that math? Is he capable of that?

TRIAL COUNSEL: He is, Your Honor. We've actually gone over that.

THE COURT: Mr. Douglas, do you understand <u>you're</u> facing over a 100 years in prison here?

MR. DOUGLAS: Yes.

THE COURT: Use the microphone, speak up. This is not a whispering contest.

MR. DOUGLAS. Yes.

THE COURT: Do you understand that if you're found guilty in Count 2, you not only can, but will do 25 years at least in prison. That means this is 2014, and the earliest you walk out of prison is 2039 or later; do you understand that?

MR. DOUGLAS: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: And you want to take your chances at a trial?

MR. DOUGLAS: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Lovely.

* * *

THE COURT: Counsel, you explained all of that to your client? He faces a 100 years in prison. The state has DNA. He's admitted to at least one of these crimes, admitted to it. The state has a victim, the victim had immediate disclosure.

TRIAL COUNSEL: I did, Your Honor. And for the record, I did also explain the state's recommendation is just a recommendation. I could make a significantly more convincing argument, you might go lower, you might go higher.

THE COURT: Mr. Douglas, do you understand that the victim in this case could not consent given her age? That means your DNA on her body, particularly her vaginal

area or leg area,5 is pretty convincing; secondly, you admitted to this offense, to a police officer you admitted your guilt; thirdly, <u>you're facing a 100 years in prison</u>; do you understand that?

MR. DOUGLAS: Yes, sir.

(54:5-10; App. 117-122). During this exchange, the state did not express any disagreement.

Plea Hearing

Approximately two weeks after the pretrial hearing and several days before the scheduled jury trial, Mr. Douglas entered a guilty plea to count one, second degree sexual assault of O.L.G., contrary to Wis. Stat. § 948.02(2). (55:5; App. 128).

In exchange for Mr. Douglas's plea to count one, the state agreed to leave sentencing to the court and dismiss outright count two, first degree sexual assault of O.L.G., contrary to Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1)(c). (55:3, 12; 15:2; App. 126).

At the conclusion of the plea hearing, the following statements were made regarding the factual basis:

THE COURT: I've read the complaint. Are both sides stipulating to the facts in the complaint as a factual basis?

PROSECUTOR: Judge, and [trial counsel] can correct me, it's my understanding that Mr. Douglas admits to sexual intercourse, denies that there was force. That's not an element of this crime. It's something the court can consider, if it chooses to at the time of sentencing. So the

⁵ O.L.G's right inner thigh had Mr. Douglas's DNA, not her vagina. (56:7; App. 143). There was no semen found. (*Id.*).

state offers the complaint in [sic] the extent that there is sexual intercourse penis to vagina, but the part about force, that's my understanding was the sticking point in resolving the case. Is that correct?

TRIAL COUNSEL: That would be correct, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Mr. Douglas, again, you're admitting you had penis to vagina intercourse, sex with the victim whose initial are O.L.G., she was under the age of 16, this occurred on or about July 10th of last year, correct?

MR. DOUGLAS: Yes, sir.

(55:10-11; App. 133-134).

Sentencing

Pursuant to the final plea agreement, the state asserted that "incarceration is appropriate in this case," and left the length of incarceration and the structure of the sentence to the court. (56:9; App. 145). O.L.G. did not attend sentencing. (56:4; App. 140).

Trial counsel indicated that he had spoken to O.L.G's uncle who said that "[O.L.G.] related a different story, that, yes, it was an act of sexual intercourse, but due to not wanting to get in trouble herself, she created this story about being forced . . . " (56:10; App. 146). Trial counsel acknowledged that the state had located a "DNA mixture" from Mr. Douglas on O.L.G.'s inner thigh, 6 but stated that "Mr. Douglas wanted to take responsibility of this. His concern was that having the offense read-in versus just straight-out dismissed . . . He

⁶ Mr. Douglas also admitted to officers he had sexual intercourse with O.L.G. (*See* 56:7-8; App. 143-144).

doesn't want to have that association of having forced her." (56:10-11; App. 146-147). Trial counsel explained that Mr. Douglas met O.L.G. on Facebook, and that "I can tell the Court that I looked at her profile. It does list her as being 19." (56:11; App. 147). Given the circumstances of the case, trial counsel requested 3.5 years of initial confinement with extended supervision left to the court. (56:15-17; App. 151-153). Mr. Douglas apologized. (56:17; App. 153).

Subsequently, the Honorable David Borowski imposed 18 years in prison (12 years initial confinement and 6 years extended supervision) consecutive to any other sentence. (56:28; App. 164). The court also ordered that Mr. Douglas have no contact "with children under the age of 16." (56:29-30; 22; 24; App. 101; App. 164-165).

Denial of Request for Postconviction Relief

Mr. Douglas filed a postconviction motion seeking sentencing modification, resentencing, or plea withdrawal on the grounds that the circuit court, the prosecutor, trial counsel, and Mr. Douglas all incorrectly believed that Mr. Douglas could be convicted of both charged counts resulting in a maximum prison term of 100 years. (34; 46). Mr. Douglas requested a hearing on the plea withdrawal claims. (*See*, *e.g.*, 34:20).

Briefing was ordered. (35). In its response, the State conceded that all of the parties, including the court, incorrectly believed that Mr. Douglas could be convicted of both charged counts. (41:1). However, the State argued that:

⁷ Mr. Douglas also moved to vacate the single, mandatory DNA surcharge imposed in this case as an ex post facto violation. He does not renew this request on appeal.

(1) Mr. Douglas "got exactly what he wanted," thus was not entitled to plea withdrawal (41:4); (2) Mr. Douglas failed to prove ineffective assistance of counsel (41:13); and (3) disputed that the court believed Mr. Douglas could be convicted of two counts (41:7, 8, 10-12).

Undersigned counsel subsequently filed a supplemental postconviction motion requesting that the judgment of conviction be modified to grant Mr. Douglas contact with his own children under the age of 16. (45).⁸

The Honorable David Borowski agreed that Mr. Douglas could not have been convicted of both charges, resulting in a maximum prison term of 100 years. (47:4; App. 106). Nonetheless, the court denied Mr. Douglas's request for postconviction relief on all grounds. (47:1-10; App. 103-112)

The court denied the request for an evidentiary hearing and plea withdrawal because the plea agreement "put [Mr. Douglas] in the same position he would have been at the conclusion of a trial under the best case scenario and in a far better position than a conviction for the more serious sexual assault charge." (47:6; App. 108). Additionally, Mr. Douglas failed to established that he was prejudiced because "he does not offer any facts to support his assertion that he would have proceeded to trial but for counsel's advice and risked a conviction that would have put him in prison for at least 25 years." (47:6-7; App. 108-109) (emphasis omitted).

The court also denied sentence modification and resentencing because:

At the sentencing hearing on July 17, 2014, the court considered the first-degree sexual assault of a child

⁸ Mr. Douglas also asked for contact with family members under the age of 16. He does not renew this request on appeal.

charge only to the extent that the 25-year minimum mandatory confinement term it carried likely motivated the defendant's decision to enter a guilty plea to the lesser offense. But at no time did the court state that it believed that the defendant could have been convicted of both counts or that he could have been sentenced to 100 years in prison. The court understood what the defendant's maximum exposure was at the time he entered a guilty plea and did not consider the 100 years at sentencing. . . . The court did not believe that the defendant was facing 100 years at sentencing and anything the court said to suggest otherwise had absolutely no impact on the ultimate sentencing decision in this case and was most assuredly harmless.

(47:8; App. 110).

Lastly, the court denied the request to modify the no contact order because there was no evidence that Mr. Douglas's sex offender treatment needs are limited to underage children who are not related to him. (47:9; App. 111). The court noted that Mr. Douglas is on a waiting list for sex offender treatment, so his needs are unknown. (*Id.*).

Additional relevant facts will be referenced below.

ARGUMENT

I. Mr. Douglas Is Entitled to An Evidentiary Hearing and Plea Withdrawal Because the Circuit Court and Trial Counsel Incorrectly Advised Him That He Could Be Convicted of Two Counts with a Maximum Prison Term of 100 years If He Went to Trial.

A. Legal principles.

A plea not entered knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently violates fundamental due process, and a defendant therefore may withdraw the plea as a matter of right. *State v. Cross*, 2010 WI 70, ¶ 14, 326 Wis. 2d 492, 786 N.W.2d 64.

A defendant who seeks to withdraw a plea after sentencing has the burden to prove by clear and convincing evidence that a manifest injustice would result if withdrawal was not permitted. *State v. Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 311, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996). "A manifest injustice occurs when there are serious questions affecting the fundamental integrity of the plea which renders it unknowing, involuntary, and unintelligently entered." *State v. Dawson*, 2004 WI App 173, ¶ 6, 276 Wis. 2d 418, 688 N.W.2d 12. The defendant has the burden to establish a manifest injustice. *State v. Dillard*, 2014 WI 123, ¶ 60, 358 Wis. 2d 543, 859 N.W.2d 44.

The determination of whether a plea was entered knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently presents a question of constitutional fact that is reviewed independently. *Dawson*, 2004 WI App 173, ¶ 7. A circuit court's finding of historical, evidentiary facts are not disturbed unless clearly erroneous. *Id.*

B. The circuit court and trial counsel incorrectly advised Mr. Douglas that he could be convicted of two counts with a maximum prison term of 100 years.

The criminal complaint charged Mr. Douglas with two counts:

- (1) second degree sexual assault of O.L.G., with a maximum term of imprisonment of 40 years, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 948.02(2); and
- (2) first degree sexual assault of O.L.G., with a maximum term of imprisonment of 60 years and a mandatory minimum of 25 years, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1)(c).

(1:1).

In this case, the pretrial transcript unequivocally reflects that the circuit court, trial counsel, Mr. Douglas, and the prosecutor *all* incorrectly believed that Mr. Douglas could be convicted of both counts resulting in a total maximum prison term of 100 years (40 years on count one and 60 years on count two). (54:5-10; App. 117-122).

However, as postconviction decision concluded, Mr. Douglas could *not* have been convicted of both counts for two reasons: (1) count one (second degree sexual assault) is a "lesser-included" of count two (first degree sexual assault); and (2) the counts are "multiplicitous" and violate double jeopardy. (*See* 47:4; App. 106).

⁹ Unless otherwise noted, "trial counsel" refers to the attorney who represented Mr. Douglas at his plea and sentencing.

1. Count one is a "lesser-included" of count two.

Wis. Stat. § 939.66 provides that "[u]pon prosecution for a crime, the actor may be convicted of either the crime charged or an included crime, but not both."

Wis. Stat. § 939.66(2p) further provides that "an included crime" is a crime which is a less serious or equally serious type of violation under the sexual assault of a child statute, Wis. Stat. § 948.02.

The sexual assault of a child statute, Wis. Stat. § 948.02, provides:

948.02 Sexual assault of a child.

- (1) FIRST DEGREE SEXUAL ASSAULT.
- (c) Whoever has sexual intercourse with a person who has not attained the age of 16 years by use or threat of force or violence is guilty of a Class B felony.

* * *

(2) SECOND DEGREE SEXUAL ASSAULT. Whoever has sexual contact or sexual intercourse with a person who has not attained the age of 16 years is guilty of a Class C felony.

Thus, count one, second degree sexual assault, pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 948.02(2), is lesser-included of count two, first degree sexual assault, pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1)(c). Consequently, Mr. Douglas could not have been convicted of both counts.

2. The counts are "multiplicitous."

Multiplicity arises where the defendant is convicted with more than one count for a single offense. *See State v. Davison*, 2003 WI 89, ¶ 38, 263 Wis. 2d 145, 666 N.W.2d 1. Multiplicitous convictions are impermissible because they violate the double jeopardy provisions of the Wisconsin and United States Constitutions. U.S. Const. amend. V; Wis. Const. art. I, sec. 8; *State v. Grayson*, 172 Wis. 2d 156, 159, 493 N.W.2d 23 (1992).

Wisconsin has traditionally analyzed multiplicity claims using a two-prong test: (1) whether the charged offenses are identical in fact and law; and (2) if the offenses are not identical in fact and law, whether the legislature intended the multiple offenses to be brought as a single count, rather than as multiple counts. *State v. Anderson*, 219 Wis. 2d 739, 746, 580 N.W.2d 329 (1998).

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