# RECEIVED

# STATE OF WISCONSIN **05-16-2017**

### COURT OF APPEAL **CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS** OF WISCONSIN DISTRICT I

#### Case No. 2016AP1865-CR

### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MARIO DOUGLAS,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT AND ORDER OF THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE DAVID L. BOROWSKI, PRESIDING

### **BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT**

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

THOMAS J. BALISTRERI Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1009785

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-1523 (608) 266-9594 (Fax) balistreritj@doj.state.wi.us

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

A determination of whether a difference between the actual and perceived penalties is substantial depends on the facts of the particular case. *Cross*, 326 Wis. 2d 492, ¶ 41. The determination should accord with common sense. *See Cross*, 326 Wis. 2d 492, ¶ 38.

A. Under the circumstances of this case, Douglas' plea to the lesser offense was not unknowing even though he erroneously believed that he could be convicted of and sentenced for both offenses if he went to trial.

Douglas was charged with two offenses: (1) first-degree sexual assault of a child, which has a maximum penalty of 60 years in prison with a mandatory minimum of 25 years of confinement, and (2) second-degree sexual assault of a child which has a maximum penalty of 40 years in prison with no minimum. (R. 1:1.) Second-degree sexual assault of a child is committed when the defendant has sexual intercourse with a child under the age of 16. Wis. Stat. § 948.02(2). First-degree sexual assault of a child is also committed when the defendant has sexual intercourse with a child under the age of 16, but in addition uses or threatens force or violence to have the intercourse. Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1)(c). Second-degree sexual assault is a lesser included offense of first-degree sexual assault both because it is a less serious type of sexual assault, and because it does not require proof of any fact in addition to those that must be proved to establish the greater offense. Wis. Stat. § 939.66(1), (2p). Because second-degree sexual assault is a lesser included offense of first-degree sexual assault, Douglas could be convicted of either one of these offenses, but not both of them. Wis. Stat. § 939.66.

Nevertheless, Douglas was erroneously told that he could be convicted of both the greater and the lesser included offenses, and that he could be sentenced consecutively for both offenses to a maximum of 100 years in prison with a minimum of 25 years of incarceration. (R. 54:5–7.) Believing that he faced up to a 100-year sentence if he was convicted of both offenses, Douglas pleaded guilty to second-degree sexual assault of a child. (R. 55:6.) The State dismissed the charge of first-degree sexual assault. (R. 55:13.)

At first glance, it might seem that Douglas should be allowed to withdraw his plea because it appears that the maximum sentence he was told he faced was substantially more than the sentence that could actually be imposed if he was convicted of the greater of the two offenses charged. After all, combined sentences maxing out at 100 years with at least 25 years' incarceration are mathematically more than a maximum 60-year sentence with at least 25 years' incarceration. But as a practical matter, both maximums were essentially the same because both amounted to a de facto sentence of life in prison.

Douglas was born April 24, 1986, making him 28 years old when he was sentenced on July 17, 2014. (R. 1; 2; 24.)

From Douglas' perspective, a sentence of 100 years in prison would have been a de facto sentence of life in prison because no one lives 128 years. But from his perspective, a sentence of 60 years in prison likewise would have been a de facto sentence of life in prison for Douglas because he would be 88-years-old when a sentence of 60 years would expire.

Considering the facts with common sense, a 100-year de facto sentence of life in prison is not substantially different from a 60-year de facto sentence of life in prison. Indeed, for all practical purposes they are the same—de facto life in prison.

Douglas' argument is based solely on the mathematical difference between 100 and 60. It fails to consider the lack of any practical difference between a sentence of 100 years and a sentence of 60 years imposed on a 28-year-old man. It fails to take into account the fact that, despite the mathematical difference, a sentence of 100 years or a sentence of 60 years are both de facto sentences of life in prison.

Douglas argues that his plea bargain, which resulted in the dismissal of one of the two counts with which he was charged, was illusory because he could not properly be convicted of both counts anyway. But the plea agreement did not just result in the dismissal of one of the two charges. It resulted in the dismissal of the greater offense of first-degree sexual assault of a child.

Unlike the charge in *State v. Dillard*, 2014 WI 123, 358 Wis. 2d 543, 859 N.W.2d 44, on which Douglas relies, the charge of first-degree sexual assault of a child was neither a factual nor a legal impossibility. Douglas was not told that he could be convicted of an offense of which he could not possibly be convicted. *See Dillard*, 358 Wis. 2d 543,  $\P$  25.

Rather, more like the situation in *State v. Denk*, 2008 WI 130, 315 Wis. 2d 5, 758 N.W.2d 775, Douglas could have properly been charged with a single count of first-degree sexual assault of a child. The allegations in the Complaint indicate that he used force and violence to have sexual intercourse with a child under the age of 16. (R. 1:2.) Pursuant to a plea agreement the State could have properly amended the charge to second-degree sexual assault of a child. Douglas would have benefitted because he would have become subject to a maximum penalty of 40 years in prison instead of a maximum penalty of 60 years in prison and a minimum penalty of 25 years of incarceration.

The situation here is no different. The plea agreement had the effect of eliminating Douglas' exposure to the penalties for the greater offense of which he could have been convicted and exposing him only to the penalty for the lesser offense. He got exactly the same benefit he would have received if he had been properly charged with only one crime.

Because the maximum sentence Douglas was told he could get was not, as a practical matter, substantially greater than the maximum sentence he could actually get if he was convicted of the greater of the two crimes with which he was charged, his plea was not unknowing, there was no violation of due process, there was no manifest injustice and Douglas is not entitled to withdraw his plea.

B. Any error would have been harmless because Douglas would have pleaded guilty to the lesser offense even if he had known that he could have been convicted of and sentenced for only the greater offense.

A defendant's failure to know and understand the precise maximum penalty can be harmless error. *Cross*, 326 Wis. 2d 492, ¶ 36. An error is harmless when it appears beyond a reasonable doubt that the error did not contribute to the conviction. *State v. Weed*, 2003 WI 85, ¶¶ 29–30, 263 Wis. 2d 434, 666 N.W.2d 485. Here, any error would have been harmless because Douglas would have pleaded guilty to

the lesser included offense of second-degree sexual assault of a child even if he had been properly charged only with the greater offense of first-degree sexual assault of a child and had been told the correct statutory penalty for that offense.

Douglas admitted to the police that he had sexual intercourse with OLG, who was 14 years old at the time. (R. 1:2; 54:9; 55:11.) His DNA was found on OLG's inner thigh, and OLG immediately disclosed the sexual assault to her mother. (R. 54:9–10.) Since it was virtually certain that Douglas would be convicted of at least second-degree sexual assault if he went to trial, Douglas gave up next to nothing by pleading to the lesser included offense.

However, Douglas gained a great deal by eliminating the risk of conviction of the greater offense, along with its minimum of 25 years of incarceration, if a jury would have believed OLG's testimony that he slapped her, punched her, choked her, and forcibly pulled down her pants to have intercourse with her. (R. 1:2.) And that was a distinct possibility since a jury would most likely find that a 14-yearold girl would resist intercourse with a 27-year-old man to whom she had never expressed any attraction, particularly given that she reported the assault immediately to her mother.

Under these circumstances, no rational defendant would have rejected the State's plea offer. Any rational defendant would have gladly accepted the opportunity to plead guilty to a charge he would have been convicted of anyway as the best conceivable outcome of a trial. The misstatement of the maximum penalty would have had no influence on Douglas' decision to plead guilty. II. Alternatively, Douglas cannot demonstrate ineffective he assistance because was not prejudiced bv his attorney's erroneous statement of the maximum penalty.

Among other things, a defendant may be allowed to withdraw his plea if he can show that the attorney who represented him in connection with his plea provided assistance that was ineffective. *State v. Kelty*, 2006 WI 101, ¶ 43, 294 Wis. 2d 62, 716 N.W.2d 886. The defendant has the usual dual burden to prove both that his attorney's performance was deficient and that the deficient performance prejudiced his defense. *Thiel*, 264 Wis. 2d 571, ¶ 18.

To prove that his attorney's performance was deficient the defendant must show that counsel acted unreasonably. *Thiel*, 264 Wis. 2d 571, ¶ 19. To prove prejudice, a defendant who wants to withdraw his plea because he says his attorney is ineffective must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, he would not have pleaded guilty but would have insisted on going to trial. *State v. Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 312, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996).

As discussed above, there is no reasonable possibility that Douglas would have rejected the State's plea offer and insisted on a trial if his attorney had correctly informed him that if he went to trial he could be convicted of only one of the offenses with which he was charged, and that the penalty for the greater offense of which he could be convicted was a maximum of 60 years in prison with a minimum of 25 years of confinement.

Douglas had nothing to gain and everything to lose by going to trial, where he would unnecessarily risk a conviction of first-degree sexual assault with no reasonable chance of acquittal of second-degree sexual assault. *See United States v. Payton*, 380 F. App'x. 509, 512–13 (6th Cir. 2010). He had everything to gain and nothing to lose by pleading guilty to the least serious offense of which he would be convicted if he went to trial, thereby eliminating the risk of being convicted of and penalized for the greater offense.

Douglas argues that he should have an evidentiary hearing on his claim of ineffective assistance. (Douglas' Br. 20–23.) But no hearing is required when the record conclusively shows that the defendant is not entitled to relief, even if the facts alleged in the motion would otherwise be sufficient. *State v. Balliette*, 2011 WI 79, ¶¶ 18, 50, 336 Wis. 2d 358, 805 N.W.2d 334.

Here, it is so certain that any reasonable defendant would have pleaded guilty to the lesser offense that Douglas' allegations to the contrary are incredible as a matter of law. The record conclusively shows that, regardless of what Douglas now claims he would have done, in fact he would have pleaded guilty even if his attorney had not erred.

Douglas has not shown that his attorney was ineffective because he has not shown that he was prejudiced by his attorney's erroneous statement of the maximum penalty.

Thus, Douglas is not entitled to withdraw his plea just because he was misinformed that he could be convicted of and sentenced for both the greater offense of first-degree sexual assault of a child and the lesser included offense of second-degree sexual assault of a child.

III. Douglas was not sentenced on the basis of inaccurate information since the circuit court's erroneous belief that Douglas could have been convicted of and sentenced for both offenses charged if he had gone to trial played no part in the imposition of a sentence for the lesser offense alone.

A sentence is presumed to be reasonable. *State v. Lechner*, 217 Wis. 2d 392, 418, 576 N.W.2d 912 (1998). The defendant has the burden to overcome this presumption by showing some unreasonable or unjustifiable basis in the record for the sentence, *Lechner*, 217 Wis. 2d at 418, including a heavy burden to show that the sentence was based on inaccurate information. *State v. Harris*, 2010 WI 79, ¶¶ 30–32, 326 Wis. 2d 685, 786 N.W.2d 409. The defendant must prove by clear and convincing evidence that inaccurate information was presented at the sentencing, and that the circuit court actually relied on this information in imposing the sentence. *State v. Travis*, 2013 WI 38, ¶¶ 21– 22, 347 Wis. 2d 142, 832 N.W.2d 491.

Whether information is inaccurate is a threshold question. *Travis*, 347 Wis. 2d 142, ¶ 22. A defendant cannot show actual reliance on inaccurate information if the information is accurate. *Travis*, 347 Wis. 2d 142, ¶ 22.

Douglas failed to prove that the circuit court actually relied on any inaccurate information in sentencing him. Douglas failed to prove that the court actually took into account in fashioning his sentence any mistaken view that he could have been convicted of and sentenced for both firstdegree and second-degree sexual assault of a child if he had gone to trial.

The court only mentioned the dismissed count once. Noting that Douglas should get some credit for pleading guilty, the court added, "Of course, he was faced with DNA and faced with the fact that if he goes to trial on these two counts, Count 2 is a 25-year initial confinement as part of the bifurcated sentence." (R. 56:20–21.)

The essence of what the court was attempting to articulate here was completely accurate. If Douglas had gone to trial, he would have inevitably been tried on Count 2, first-degree sexual assault of a child, regardless of any other possible charges. He would have inevitably faced a potential sentence that included a minimum of 25 years of confinement, regardless of any other possible sentences.

Whether or not Douglas might have also been tried on Count 1, second-degree sexual assault of a child, had nothing to do with what the court was saying here. The court was not saying that Douglas faced the 25-year minimum because he would have been tried on both counts together. As the court noted in denying Douglas' postconviction motion, "at no time did the court state that it believed that the defendant could have been convicted of both counts or that he could have been sentenced to 100 years in prison." (R. 47:8.) Douglas faced the 25-year minimum because he would have been tried on Count 2, whether or not he would have been simultaneously tried on Count 1 as well.

The court may have misspoken about a trial on two counts.<sup>1</sup> But that mistaken remark had nothing to do with the point the court was trying to make as part of its sentencing rationale, i.e., if Douglas had not pleaded guilty he would have faced the possibility of a mandatory minimum sentence. That information was not inaccurate.

Douglas relies on some statements made by the prosecutor at the sentencing. But Douglas was not sentenced by the prosecutor. He was sentenced by the court. So it is the statements made by the court, not any statements made by the prosecutor, that are relevant in determining whether the court relied on any inaccurate information.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Under one view, a defendant is always tried on both the greater offense and any lesser included offense containing the same elements that is submitted to the jury. *See State v. Hughes*, 2001 WI App 239, 248 Wis. 2d 133, 635 N.W.2d 661 (finding harmless error where the defendant was tried on and convicted of both a greater offense and a lesser included offense).

Douglas asserts that a sentencing court cannot properly exercise its discretion if it has an incorrect understanding of the facts and the law. But the court can properly exercise its discretion if it does not rely on any incorrect understanding of either the facts or the law in imposing the sentence. *See Travis*, 347 Wis. 2d 142, ¶¶ 21– 22.

Finally, while a circuit court's after-the-fact assertion of non-reliance on allegedly inaccurate information is not dispositive, *Travis*, 347 Wis. 2d 142, ¶ 48, here, the circuit court's postconviction statement that it did not rely on any inaccurate information (R. 47:7) comports with the record made at the sentencing showing that the court did not rely on any inaccurate information.

Douglas claims that his attorney was ineffective for not objecting to the court's statement. But there was nothing objectionable about the statement. The court correctly stated that if Douglas had not pleaded guilty he would have faced the possibility of a mandatory minimum sentence. An attorney does not perform deficiently by failing to object when there was no reason to object. *See State v. Ewing*, 2005 WI App 206, ¶ 18, 287 Wis. 2d 327, 704 N.W.2d 405.

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